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PER CURIAM:’

Dario Villarreal-Benavides appealshisconvictionfor illegal reentry into the
United Statesin violation of 8 U.S.C. § 1326. Finding no meritin hischallengeto
the conviction we affirm.

Background

Villarreal-Benavides, a Mexican citizen, was convicted in 1987 in federal

" Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the court hasdetermined that this opinion should not be
published and is not precedent except under thelimited circumstancesset forthinLoca Rule
47.5.4.



court of smuggling 1756 pounds of marihuana into the United States. After a
hearing in 1991 the immigration judge ordered his deportation to Mexico. The
ruling was appeal ed to the Board of Immigration Appeals. Pending the appeal he
was enlarged on bail. In 1994 the BIA affirmed the deportation order. The
Immigration and Naturalization Service sent Villarreal-Benavides notice of the
final order and aletter demanding that he surrender for deportation. The INS sent
the documents by certified mail to hislast known address, but they were returned
asundeliverable. ThelNSalso sent acopy of thedemand letter to the attorney who
had represented Villarreal-Benavides in the deportation proceedings. Villarreal-
Benavides failed to appear for deportation and was declared a fugitive.

On November 5, 1995 border patrol agents arrested Villarreal-Benavides
near the Mexican border just after he reentered the United States. He wasindicted
and tried on one count of illegal reentry under section 1326; the jury returned a
verdict of guilty. Thetrial judge sentenced Villarreal-Benavides to 63 monthsin
prison and three years of supervised release. He timely appeal ed.

Analysis

The sole contention on appeal is that the government failed to meet its

burden of provingthat Villarreal-Benavideswas* arrested” prior to hisdeportation,

which was one of the elements of the offense under the version of section 1326 in



effect at the time of theindictment. An*“arrest” isaccomplished for section 1326
purposeswhen the INS serves awarrant of deportation upon thealien.* Villarreal-
Benavides contends that merely mailing the warrant of deportation to his last
known address was insufficient to satisfy the arrest requirement.

Ontherecord beforeuswefind no meritin Villarreal -Benavides schallenge
to the validity of his conviction. The record reflects that he changed his address
whileon bail without notifying the INSasrequired by law.? TheINSmadediligent
efforts to serve a warrant of deportation after the BIA affirmed the deportation
order. A copy was mailed to hislast known address and a copy was mailed to the
attorney who represented him in the deportation proceedings. If Villarreal-
Benavideshad complied with the statutory requirement of keeping the INS advised
of his current address during the period of his enlargement on bail, the “arrest”
requirement on the deportation order would have been accomplished. Hisfailure
to comply with this mandatory statutory requirement cannot serve as a defense to
the charge of violating 8 U.S.C. § 1326.

The conviction is AFFIRMED.

'United Statesv. Quezada, 754 F.2d 1190 (5th Cir. 1985) (citingUnited Statesv. Wong
Kim Bo, 466 F.2d 1298 (5th Cir. 1972)).
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